FORT VANCOUVER REGIONAL LIBRARY DISTRICT
Board of Trustees Public Meeting

February 13, 2006

CALL TO ORDER
Chair Jerry King called the meeting to order at 4:30 p.m. at Vancouver Community
Library.

PRESENT

Chair Jerry King presiding. Board members: Bill Yee, Jack Burkman, Jerry King,
Merle Koplan (via telephone), Karen Peterson and Rose Smith. Staff attending
included: Bruce Ziegman, Executive Director; Patty Duitman, Operations Director;
Doreen Turpen, Access & Programs Director; Sue Vanlaanen, Communications
Director; Mary Devlin, Community Libraries Director; Melinda Chesbro, Content
Management Director; Karin Ford, Vancouver Community Librarian and Becky
Pettigrew, recording.

Other staff and citizens attending: Al Phelan, Amy Lee, Anni Cothern, Bryan Dugan,
Carrie Parks, Charles Stemper, Chris Hughey, Craig Dewey, Dale Read Jr., Dan
Duringer, David Schwehr, David Starke, Ed Rush, Greg Flakus, Gretchen Starke, Jane
Higgins, Jeft Crup, Jessica Kovis, Kathy Ryland, Ken Topper, Kevin Smith, Kevin
Thompson, Margaret Tweet, Marlene Adams, Matt Bellamy, Megan Dugan, Melinda
Chesbro, Melody Good, Michael Groark, Michael Turnauer, Nathan Johnson, Nurmi
Husa, Pat Plambeck, Paul King, Rian Girard, Rick Smithrud, Sandy Blanton, Sandy
Glover, Susan Arney and Teresa Torres.

AGENDA
The agenda was approved as presented.

MINUTES
The minutes of the January 9, 2006 meeting were approved as emailed.

ANNOUNCEMENTS
None.

CITIZEN COMMENTS

None.

BUSINESS

A. Expenditure Approval

MOTION: Karen Peterson moved and Jack Burkman seconded approval of the accounts
payable, payroll and payroll payables as presented. The motion passed unanimously.



FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 2

B. Three Creeks Library Capital Facility Area Expenditure Approval
MOTION: Karen Peterson moved and Jack Burkman seconded approval of the Three
Creeks Library Capital Facility Area expenditures. The motion passed unanimously.

8. REPORTS

A. Vancouver's Young Adult Advisory Board
Youth Services Manager Ruth Shafer introduced two members of Vancouver
Community Library’s Young Adult Advisory Board (YAAB), Nathan Johnson
and Kevin Thompson.

Nathan said he is 16 years old and has been coming to YAAB since he was 12.
He said it’s fun and interesting. Programs he has enjoyed participating in
include Facing Your Fear Factor, Teen Idol and Summer Game Day. The Fear
Factor program had many fun events, including a dirty diaper toss. At the Teen
Idol program, they sang songs and competed for gifts. Activities at Summer
Game Day included a tug of war. Nathan said that participating in the YAAB
gives him somewhere to go and allows him to escape his brothers and sisters.
Ziegman asked about the dirty diaper toss. Nathan said they put uncooked chili
and lemonade in clean, disposable diapers.

Kevin said he is 14 and has been coming to YAAB for 2 years. His favorite
program was duct-tape crafts, making wallets and purses from duct tape. Others
fun activities he participated in included a board game night, Valentine’s crafts,
making crafts for youth services, and the Teen Idol program. He said that soon,
the YAAB groups from the Vancouver, Three Creeks, Vancouver Mall and
Cascade Park branches will get together for a teen game day. The YAAB
groups will compete with each other in activities such as tug of war and relay
races. Kevin said he likes YAAB because he can spend time with friends,
participate in programs and eat yuammy snacks. He looks forward to the
upcoming YAAB programs.

King and the board expressed thanks to Kevin and Nathan for their reports.
Kevin showed them the wallets he had made with duct tape and board members
were very impressed with his creativity.

B. Branch News
Mary Devlin’s written report is attached. Devlin introduced Gwen Scott-Miller,
the new manager of the Three Creeks Community Library.

Vancouver Community Librarian Karin Ford introduced Lynne Minnick, their
new Assistant Community Librarian. Highlights shared about activities at the
main library include:
* They’ve started a monthly book discussion group for teens. The theme
is science fiction and the program attracts 8-10 teens each month.



FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 3

10.

* In March, they will start a teen writing group for ages 12-14. The idea is
to continue through September with this group and then try another
group for older teens.

* They have a partnership with the Fruit Valley School. The principal
there considers the library very important in helping students with their
writing skills. About 100 kids used their library cards on the bookmobile
when it was there recently.

¢ The annual Chinese New Year program put together by FVRL staff
member Amy Lee was very successful again this year. It was held at
Clark College and about 320 people attended.

* Several healthcare programs are coming up on topics such as Medicare
and Medicaid.

C. EVRL Foundation Update
Jane Higgins introduced Susan Arney from Altrusa International. Altrusa is
donating $10,000 to the help with the Battle Ground Community Library
building fund. Higgins expressed how meaningful this is to her and to the
library. The board also expressed its thanks. Arney said this is the second
FVRL library they’ve supported with a monetary contribution and that they are
very glad to do so.

Smithrud said he received notice from the Paul G. Allen Foundation that the
FVRL Foundation has been approved to submit a proposal to them for the Battle
Ground building project. He has also applied to the Foundation for Early
Learning for grant funding. Smithrud’s written report is attached.

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
Ziegman said that much of his time this past month has been spent preparing for the
board’s Internet discussion tonight, including refining the policy options.

Several staff attended Library Legislative Day in Olympia; this was done on their own
time. Staff met with almost all of the legislators that represent the district’s service
area. Two issues that they discussed with the legislators were the six-year levy lid lift
and the early learning initiative. They also met with Karen Tvedt of the Washington
Learns Early Learning Council to talk about how public libraries might be recognized
for what they do in the area of early learning, and to get support to continue their
efforts.

More than 160 people attended the Ben Franklin Birthday Bash fundraiser for the Battle
Ground library. Ziegman said the event generated a lot of new supporters and that
everyone appeared to really enjoy the evening. King also agreed and said it was a
privilege to be involved.

BOARD COMMENTS

King distributed an edited version of a memo he had emailed to the board last week.




FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 4

Burkman said he had the opportunity to attend Heritage High School’s Community
Connections Day. The event was housed in the school’s media center. While there, he
talked with the librarian and learned that she has instituted a “bookmobile” of sorts.
The librarian takes a book cart out to the cafeteria, where she talks to kids about books
and reading.

R. Smith expressed appreciation for the YAAB reports given by teens Nathan and
Kevin, and to Youth Services staff Ruth Shafer and Anni Cothern for arranging for the
teens to come and speak. R. Smith said the teens did a really good job and that she
hopes to see more teens at other library board meetings.

Bill Yee thanked the board and staff for rearranging the April board retreat to
accommodate a trip he had previously planned. The retreat is now April 10-11.

The meeting recessed for dinner at 5:00 p.m. King reconvened the meeting at 6:00 p.m.

11.

Library Internet Access

King welcomed everyone to this part of the meeting. He explained there would be a
three-minute limit per citizen giving comments, which ensures that everyone has an
opportunity to speak. He noted that Merle Koplan is unable to attend in person, but is
participating via telephone. Koplan said she wanted it on the record that she is paying
for the phone call.

Ziegman gave a summary of the issues and the options being considered by the board.
Prior to the January board meeting, the library district solicited feedback and were
pleased to receive 450 comments from citizens. The question asked was if adults
should be able to retain the right to remove the filter. The comments were 153 in favor
of the current policy and 297 in favor of removing the ability of adults to lift the filter.

Urban Libraries Council (ULC), a national organization, did a poll of their membership
for Ziegman on this issue and 72 urban libraries across the country responded. The
question that was asked: “Regarding the filtering of sexually explicit images on public-
accessible library computers, does your library have mandatory filtering: a) for
everyone; b) for no one; c¢) for those under the age of 17 as called for by the Children’s
Internet Protection Act (CIPA); or d) other?” Of the 72 libraries responding, 37% filter
for everyone, 23% filter for no one and 25% filter for those under age 17 (are CIPA
compliant).

Ziegman said that staff also queried libraries in Western Oregon and Washington.
Almost all the libraries in Washington have CIPA compliant policies. Only a few
libraries have either full filtering for all ages or no filtering for anyone. In Oregon, very
few libraries filter for all ages, however, many have policies that say it’s not appropriate
to view pornography in the library.



FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 5

Following the last bond measure, a poll was conducted of 200 no voters to find out why
they didn’t support the measure. Ziegman said the top two reasons people rejected it
were taxes (42%) and the library offering access to Internet pornography (28%).

At the request of the board, Ziegman also polled staff to get their input on the policy
options. The staff was almost evenly split between retaining the current policy and
doing more filtering.

Staff learned that North Central Regional Library decided to fully filter their Internet
access but were declared compliant with CIPA. Ziegman looked into this further and
learned that regardless of what the justices said, the law that they declared constitutional
only spoke to Internet access for ages 16 and under and did not address what to do
about adults. So the Washington State Library, which determines CIPA compliance for
our state, declared North Central compliant.

Ziegman said he has done extensive testing of the library’s filter. He did many Google
searches for medical information, including search terms like breast cancer, breast
reduction, erectile dysfunction and body piercing. For medical sites, almost none were
blocked. In fact, no sites within the first five pages of search results were blocked for
the breast cancer and erectile dysfunction search. For the body-piercing search, only a
few were blocked and those contained very explicit images. Our filter shows all the
links in the search results and you have to click on the link to find out if it’s blocked. If
it is, a message appears so you always know what is being blocked. Ziegman said that
our filter appears to be working appropriately.

In January, staff presented six options to the board that included everything from no
Internet access, to no filtering, to full filtering. The board removed the three they did
not want to consider. Staff have since refined the remaining options and included some
that fall in between. These options include:

Current policy

Current access levels plus raise viewing age to 18 years

Current access levels plus viewing restrictions

Current access levels plus raise viewing age to 18 years plus viewing restrictions
Mandatory basic filtering for all

Mandatory basic filtering for all plus viewing restrictions

moe a0 o

Ziegman noted that policy changes requiring software modifications would take a
couple of months to implement. Software modifications would not have any cost to
make, except staff time. If the board decides to require staff monitoring and that were
to be accomplished by raising the monitors to the desktops and adding privacy screens,
there would be some costs involved to reinforce the desks and purchase privacy screens.

King thanked Ziegman for his summary. King said the board has been considering the
issues for several months and that this is not an easy decision. A public hearing was
held in December and many citizen comments were given then, too. The board has had
a chance to read all the written comments received from the public.



FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 6

Citizen Comments

Greg Flakus said he knows this has been a difficult issue and that no matter which way
the board decides, some people will be pleased and some won’t. He said he favors the
current policy because he feels it supports the First Amendment. He said the Internet
has really exploded since 1995. Before the Internet, libraries had some policies about
restricting what kinds of books they purchased. His feeling on this is that the Internet is
only going to become more and more explosive with more content.

Dan Duringer said he is a member of LifePAC and this group feels that Internet
pornography creates a sexualized and harassing environment. They want the library to
be welcoming to families and feel that Internet pornography is inappropriate in the
library. They request that FVRL adopts a no-pornography policy. They also ask that
computer monitors be placed on desktops. He asked if that would be decided, too?
King agreed. Duringer said many public libraries have policies that state that patrons
won’t have complete privacy when using library resources. He said it’s not censorship
but using discretion in deciding what material to provide to patrons.

Bill Yee asked Duringer how LifePAC feels about other objectionable Internet
materials, such as hate speech, holocaust denials, racial or ethnic Web sites that are
hateful in nature, and sites that show how to build a bomb? Duringer said he
understands there are libraries that limit gaming, chat and other resources on the
Internet and feels libraries should have the authority to do so; however, right now their
focus is on pornography.

Marlene Adams said we’ve gone past what mere pornography is; we’ve gotten into
obscenity. In Miller vs. California, it addressed obscenity. Obscenity isn’t protected by
the Constitution and a state can regulate it. But to do this, you have to have an
obscenity statute under Washington State Law. She asked if we have that statute? King
said yes, but the Supreme Court held it unconstitutional several years ago because it
goes beyond the standards of the community. Adams said that people have called those
who object to Internet pornography prudes. She wanted to see if the pornography was
something to be concerned about, so she searched the Internet using a vulgar term for
female anatomy. She found sites that were very obscene, with very few words and no
plot. These sites were almost completely pictorial and had links to videos with torture.
Based on this, Adams said this is a very real problem and it’s understandable that
people are upset.

Nurmi Husa read a passage from the Bible that described brutal sex and torture. He
said the library includes this material and that many people who discourage the library
from offering full Internet access encourage their children to read these passages in the
Bible. He said he’s mystified that anyone feels they have the right to tell others what
they can look at. He thinks that any kind of filtering is an offense to the First
Amendment and America.



FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 7

Craig Dewey said he participated in an FVRL board hearing in 1993 on minors’ access
to library materials. At that time, his comments to the board were that it’s the parents’
responsibility to monitor their children’s access. He said he feels the same today.
Dewey said he is president of the Clark County chapter of the ACLU. They believe that
the library should provide access to information, not limit it and not baby sit children.
He acknowledged that the library board has been addressing these issues for a long time
and that the current policy protects children but provides access to adults. He said that
some people like Elizabeth Hovde from The Columbian argue that libraries can select
Internet sites like they select books. Dewey said that libraries go to great lengths to
extend their resources through services like interlibrary loan. He said that changing the
Internet policy would fundamentally result in a shift in the library’s philosophy. He
read from the selection policy where it says the collection as a whole will be unbiased
and represent as many views as possible.

Bill Yee asked if the ACLU supported taking all filters off for everyone, including
children? Dewy said no, that they support the current policy.

Charles Stemper said libraries should be places where family values are learned and
expressed. If people want porn, he said they should go buy it and not get it at library.
He feels that the library is for the betterment of the family and a place for learning. He
asked the board to keep the filters turned on to protect the innocence of our children and
grandchildren. He added that monitors should be in full view to make sure people
follow the policy.

Kathy Ryland said Washington voters recently passed a law that restricts smoking from
public areas. She said this doesn’t restrict anyone from smoking in his or her own
home. She believes voters passed this law to protect the health of our citizens. No one
said you shouldn’t smoke, but we don’t want smokers to inflict this on everyone else.
She applied this to the Internet discussion by saying that people aren’t being asked to
not view porn, rather she is asking that we don’t allow it in public spaces like the
library. She said that there’s no body of evidence that says pornography or smoking are
good for your health. She also said age 16 is too young for allowing the option of
unfiltered access, as with our current policy.

Rian Girard said he feels there should be no pornography in libraries and that monitors
should be placed on the desktop. He said he thinks this is the community standard.
Girard said he doesn’t want to fund pornography and that he wants there to be a
learning environment. Girard asked if the city annexation would impact the voter-
approved Library Capital Facility Area (LCFA), or would the LCFA retain the existing
boundary? He said people living in the annexed area would want to have a say about it.
King said staff would address this topic at the time the board discusses this issue.

Carrie Parks said she supports the current policy. She said it’s hard to define
pornography because everyone has a different definition. She asked whose definition
would be used? Parks said she has worked in social services and seen people who are
perpetrators, so she doesn’t take pornography lightly. However, she said we are adults



FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 8

and live in a free society that allows open debate. She said those against pornography
haven’t been after the pornography shops in our city. She thinks this is an attack on the
library, and expressed concern that we’re losing our freedoms and our ability to have
open debate. There is an informational quality to some things that some people might
view as porn. She said as an example, she has a friend who is gay. She’s known him
since grade school and he’s had a hard time dating women. When he was in his mid-
40s he looked at Internet pornography and from that realized he was gay. Parks said her
friend was headed for a life of loneliness until then.

Margaret Tweet said that petitions were circulated in the community and thousands of
signatures were gathered in 2002 and then again later. They went around in Camas and
Washougal and easily got 400 signatures from people who felt that pornography wasn’t
necessary at the library, especially since children are served there. She’s talked to
parents more than single people, and even those who use pornography understand why
people would object to a public use of it. When she first wrote an article about this, she
contacted a professor who told her that there is no public mandated subsidy at the state,
federal or local levels that require any library to provide porn. She said that sex
offenders are restricted from accessing it for good reason.

Al Phelan asked if freedom means we can swing our arms until they hit someone
standing next to us, or yell fire in a theater? He said the library shouldn’t subsidize the
dangerous predators who get hyped up on porn, which increases their likelithood of
attacking children. He said the library isn’t a safe place with Internet pornography
being available.

King said that in the last five years, library visits district-wide have increased 34% and
at the main library 8%. The number of visits by children is not counted separately, but
King said an indicator is that story time program attendance has gone up 95% over the
last five years. King said his observation is that the libraries are safe for people. He
said he doesn’t think there’s any real evidence that pornography in the library makes it
dangerous for children.

Dale Read said he is a former library board member who was appointed in 1987. Read
said he feels the library is in good hands and so has tried to stay away from board policy
decisions since his term was over. Read said if he was on the board right now, he
doesn’t know how he’d vote. He rejects completely an absolutist position or mindset
from either direction. Before the Internet, we had people objecting to library material
and in some cases the complaint was that the person wanted to do the thinking for the
whole community. Read said this is fundamentally opposed to what the library is about.
Also, on the other end, is the objection that we shouldn’t limit selecting even the most
explicit material for the collection. Read said he objects to this stand as well. Safety is
important. Read said the library is an exceptionally safe place with trained and skilled
staff, security guards to maintain order and prevent problems and carefully thought-out
policies. Out of the last 600,000 patrons who have visited the library, Read said there
has been one complaint that involved an actual incident. He said that when you
compare the library to parks, shopping centers and other public spaces, he feels the



FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 9

library stacks up well. He said there are parents who leave their children unsupervised
at the library but won’t at the mall or a park. He said that the lowered monitors are a
good idea.

Ken Topper said he favors full filtering so that taxpayer money isn’t used for porn. If
this isn’t changed, Topper said he would still vote to support the library. He said he
knows many who would change their vote if the library changed its policy to full
filtering. Topper said that if you want the voters’ money, you have to do what the
voters want. He believes that if the restrictions were in place several years ago, Battle
Ground would already have a new library.

King said there is an issue about how much the library board should consider voters
versus constitutional rights. Also, King noted that a majority favored the bond in
Vancouver, but it didn’t get the supermajority.

Paul King said that the American Library Association has fought harder than any
organization against banning of information and books. When the current CIPA law
was passed, it was the library association that brought suit against the government and
lost. They did it because they have a policy and general feeling about access to
information. Paul King said that when he went to the Three Creeks library recently and
saw the 14 computers there, he thought someone had done the right thing. In 1987
when he retired from first career, he was asked to become professor at the New York
Institute of Technology, teaching about computers. They had built long tables and
recessed the monitors below the desktop, just like at FVRL now. It wasn’t for privacy.
He said this was the ergonomic way to use a computer so that you don’t get a sore neck
from looking at the monitor and keyboard. Paul King also noted that it costs more to
limit pornography than to let it in. He said that censorship is a slippery slope. Of the 12
computers available at the Three Creeks library, he said that only 2 offered unfiltered
access but one of those had been out of order for a long time. He sat at an unfiltered
terminal and typed in “pipe bomb” and got thousands of hits.

David Starke said people voted overwhelmingly to support the library; the measure fell
just a few votes short of a supermajority. Those who voted against the library due to
pornography are a small but vocal minority. One of the things that anti-pornography
people asked for and got were ways to keep or at least minimize people from
inadvertently seeing porn. Now they want to bring the monitors back up so anyone can
see. There is an inconsistency that Starke said he could only think means these people
want to look over the shoulders of others. This is the idea of “Big Brother” and Starke
said he objects to it. He said people want to act as his conscience. Pornography is not
like cigarette smoke, because you can avoid it. Momentary exposure to a pornography
site isn’t going to hurt an adult. Starke said it’s safer for kids to be at library than the
mall because there are so many people around.

Sandy Blanton said the First Amendment has restrictions and isn’t wide open. For
example, she said you can’t lie in court and you can’t malign someone publicly. She
said that just because the predators haven’t said they got pornography from the main



FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 10

library doesn’t mean they aren’t here looking at it. Every week, Blanton said we hear
that predators that have been arrested and pornography has been found on their
computers. She said she won’t support pornography in the library and that a library
bond won’t pass as long as it’s available. If the board changes its policy to disallow
porn, they’ll get the support of the community.

King closed the citizen comment period at 7:07 p.m.

Board Discussion

Burkman thanked those who shared their comments and noted that the board has
received many emails as well, all of which they have read and considered. Burkman
stressed that this decision is not about bonds or new buildings. He said that even if it
were about that, while we might gain a few votes from one side, we’d lose some from
the other. So this is not about buildings. It’s a question about the community and its
use of the library.

Too many people don’t believe our libraries are safe places to bring their families,
which Burkman said the board must address. Burkman wants the public to say this is a
good institution where they feel safe visiting. Filtering is not new in urban libraries.
Burkman said he’s distressed at the misinformation he’s heard from the public. Some
think we don’t do any filtering, but that’s not true. Filtering is currently mandatory for
kids.

Burkman proposed that the board adopt a policy that says viewing Internet pornography
is not allowed. We would use filters as a tool to implement this. He noted that there
would be a monetary cost involved. However, Burkman said that having a policy
without an effective tool dumps the implementation onto staff, which he said isn’t
appropriate. He also said the filter needs to have industry standards and must evolve
and get more advanced over time. He sees that the filters are getting much better. In
order to support this policy, the staff needs to find a way to provide patrons with
reasonable privacy while still allowing staff to monitor its use to make sure the policy is
followed. Staff can figure out how to accomplish that, but people need some privacy
when doing searches on things like sensitive health issues.

MOTION: Jack Burkman moved and Merle Koplan seconded that we adopt an Internet
access policy option that prohibits viewing of pornographic Web sites in FVRL libraries
and that uses mandatory basic filtering for all ages as its implementation tool, and that
the library district also provide reasonable patron privacy while allowing staff the ability
to monitor for inappropriate access.

Amended
at 3/13/06
meeting:

E. Smith said she did not want a motion at this time and asked King if this was legal.
King said it was in order but we should be sure to have plenty of discussion. Burkman

agreed.

The board discussed the motion. E. Smith asked Burkman why he proposes this policy
change? Is it because of the perception of a problem with safety in the library? She



FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 11

said there is no real valid reason to think that we have a problem with people viewing
pornography in the library. There’s been only one complaint in a long period of time.
She asked how many citizens have read the library’s Rules of Conduct policy? Our
policy says you can’t view illegal pornography and it has the consequences. E. Smith
said we shouldn’t do this based on perceptions or misperceptions, because that’s wrong
and irresponsible. Our mission says we protect people’s ability to access information.
She said that limiting adult access is against our mission and against the role of the
public library. She proposed changing perceptions through outreach and asked that we
not try to appease a segment of the public with policy changes.

Yee said Burkman’s policy change would require staff to monitor and enforce it, and he
questioned how much work it would take to handle this and how staff would determine
what is pornographic and what is not? Ziegman said that if the policy were to have the
restriction without filtering, it would be very difficult to enforce. Using the tool of
filtering, in Ziegman’s opinion, would be the only realistic way to enforce it. Ziegman
said that the filter appears to work pretty well and so he felt that it wouldn’t be too
difficult to monitor.

Peterson said one of the issues is about the physical arrangement of the monitors.

Ziegman said there are several procedural questions:

* How would staff decide guidelines for when the filter under-blocks and over-
blocks?

* How would we provide some privacy to patrons while still being able to monitor for
appropriate access?

*  On the issue of comfort and ergonomics, Ziegman said many people have asked us
to move the monitors to the desktop. We could place privacy screens on the
monitors to give some level of confidentiality.

King said that no one has really mentioned the law. We had already approved banning
illegal pornography (child pornography) in the update of our filter. King said he favors
raising the age from 17 to 18, in keeping with other laws about minors. CIPA called for
up to age 17 as an exception.

King said he is not persuaded that there’s any real problem. There have been almost no
complaints. He spent some time at the Main library observing use of the unfiltered
Internet computers. He said that some perceive the situation as being a certain way and
don’t care if it’s true or not. They base it on their own principles.

King said that the Supreme Court definition of pornography asks whether it goes
beyond the standards of our community. Many court cases have determined that
ordinary pornography doesn’t go beyond the standards of our community. Every city in
America has films for sale and the best hotel chains in America offer pornography on
televisions in all their rooms. Most public libraries allow pornography in one form or
another. The Seattle Public Library has no pornography restrictions and over a million
people use that library. King said Seattle passed the biggest library bond measure in the



FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 12

history of their city to build it. In Portland, filtering restricts people under age 13,
which is not as strict as our current policy.

King said that there might be private reasons people prefer to view pornography in the
library rather than at home, or perhaps some just don’t have a computer at home. Many
think our unfiltered computers work better. King said it’s a matter of debate between
people whether the viewing of pornography is right or wrong. He also said this leads
down a slippery slope to censorship. If we have limits on the Internet, next people will
ask us to place limits on books, magazines, and other traditional library materials.

Some have told King that the unfiltered computer is better than the filtered one for some
kinds of research. King said he doesn’t agree that there are sex offenders hanging
around the Internet computers in the library because there have been no indications of
this happening during the time we have offered Internet access. He said we should not
make policy changes on the chance that it could happen. He feels we should raise the
minimum age for unfiltered access to 18 and continue with the upgrade that restricts
access to illegal porn.

Yee said he agrees with King’s argument about objectionable material that is still legal.
However, Yee said he didn’t agree that we should allow it just because it’s in other
cities. There are things you can do in San Francisco that aren’t appropriate here,
because we have different community standards here.

Koplan said that in her observation of the main library, the ambience changed
dramatically as soon as we implemented more restrictions on the Internet and when we
limited the number computers with unfiltered access. As to the issue of the slippery
slope, she said we do not have x-rated material on our shelves and in our DVDs and
videos, and we have a lot more shelf space than we have computer terminals. She said
she would hate to think we’d allow things on our computers that we wouldn’t put on our
shelves. Koplan requested that we have the same selection policy for the Internet as we
have for books.

E. Smith said that when we talk about community standards, we’re not just talking
about Vancouver or Clark County; the library district serves three-plus counties in
Southwest Washington. E. Smith said that she is from Klickitat County and has heard
from many who do not want more filtering. She asked the board to be careful in talking
about community standards because the district serves more than one community.

Some of the people who have sent comments asking for filtering say they aren’t library
users. Many say they support our current policy and E. Smith said it’s important to
listen to them, too.

Burkman said he has talked to a lot of people about this. Many people opt not to get
involved when they see something they disagree with. Instead, they just decide not to
come back, or they use the library in a more limited capacity, such as opting not to
bring their kids. Burkman said he doesn’t think we see something like this in our
numbers. By the time we’d see it, we’re too far past it to deal with it well. Burkman



FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 13

stressed that these were not anecdotal situations, rather they were first-hand comments
from people. He wouldn’t have supported this new direction two years ago, but feels
we’re in a different time with a different level of technology available to us.

King said his own experience has been very different and that very few people have
raised concerns to him about the Internet. He spends a lot of time at the main library in
the reading room, and he feels like he’s going into a happy, wholesome place where a
lot of people are enjoying the library. He’s read all the comments and they vary
tremendously. He feels badly that on both sides, very few people are willing to say they
understand the other side’s point of view. This is a very sensitive issue and it’s
important to try to understand how others are feeling about it.

R. Smith said she agrees with Burkman. She said our libraries need to be family
friendly and that a majority of the communications from citizens has said they support
more filtering.

Ziegman said email comments from citizens are about 2-1 in favor of full filtering. In
talking to our own staff at a combined Branch Day / middle management meeting,
about 50% were in favor of more filtering.

Yee asked if the staff has brought forward any complaints to back up this issue?
Ziegman said there have been few complaints from people since we moved the
computers and limited unfiltered access. Ziegman said feedback was gathered at the
meeting through a secret ballot poll.

Burkman said 37% of libraries nationwide have full filtering according to the Urban
Libraries Council survey. This is a fundamental shift and tells him there was a
significant problem that has led to this shift. Other communities are struggling with this
issue. It appears to be a viable alternative for so many to have gone to this.

E. Smith said we’re not like elected officials. We’re more like a university board; we’re
leaders and we’re expected to defend the tasks we are charged with, which include
protecting the rights of individuals to free access to information. She questioned how
we could get away from that? Has our process deteriorated that much? Koplan said it’s
how you define the sites being blocked. Are they really information? E. Smith said it’s
about how you view pornography and it’s subjective. For some it might be two people
kissing, for others it might be something else.

Koplan asked board members if they had reviewed the kinds of sites that would be
blocked by the filter? She asked if they saw the commercial sites that ask people to get
out their credit card to pay for more porn? King said he had reviewed this. Burkman
said they are almost exclusively sexual sites. Koplan added that they are for sexual
excitement. Board members agreed. King said there was a distinction between
pornography and obscenity.



FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 14

Burkman said at the last board retreat, there was discussion about where we want to
invest our resources. For example, we’ve made choices about not allowing access to
entertainment videos. These fall into that category.

King said at one time, he was concerned that people wanting to learn about medical or
sexual information wouldn’t have access. He said that the filter companies have made
progress and much is available, but it’s not foolproof.

Peterson said she is a swing vote. Her biggest concern is whether or not pornography is
a source of information that should be available in the public library. She said she is not
concerned about the library being unsafe because she doesn’t see that this is a problem.
She is leaning toward agreement with the motion based on Internet pornography not
being a valid source of information. Peterson said she is not trying to determine a
community standard and this is not a reaction to anything said here such as the issue of
economic blackmail. Peterson said any decision tonight will offend some. She is also
struggling with the privacy issue, because she doesn’t want this to become a “Big
Brother” issue, with patrons spying on one another.

Peterson said she is also concerned about the slippery slope to censorship and will be
hyper-vigilant on anything else that requires restrictions. She said that some people will
want more restrictions and going with full filtering could add more fuel to fire, which
she doesn’t want to happen. She said she wants to approve this motion with the best of
intentions, not to appease anyone.

King said libraries are fonts of information but they are not the only places to obtain it.
Some of the novels that might be considered trashy are also popular. He said he feels
the same way about porn. Some people think this is good entertainment and so long as
it’s legal he can’t see why he as a board member should tell them they can’t look at it.

E. Smith agreed and asked Peterson to explain her idea that it’s not a valid source of
information. E. Smith said that people have turned this into a question about
pornography rather than about full access to information. She suggested that if in
doubt, it would be best to keep the current policy. The policy addresses behavior such
as stalking, staring and lewd behavior. E. Smith said if there is a real problem, then we
could do something, rather than changing the policy now when there are no real
situations to warrant it.

Koplan said that in an ideal world, the current policy would be fine. If someone abuses
our policy they don’t lose their job or their income. All they lose is access to the
Internet in the library. There’s nothing strong enough to get people to follow our

policy.

Burkman said the current policy is not clear enough. It needs to have a statement about
viewing pornography. E. Smith said it addresses illegal porn. Ziegman clarified that
the new filter version will block child porn, but not all illegal pornography or other
obscenity.



FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 15

Burkman said he doesn’t want to focus on the filter itself, because the filter is a tool and
is not the policy. E. Smith said we have default filtering for all and adults retain a
choice to turn off the filter. She said she could compromise by adjusting the minimum
age for unfiltered access to 18.

Koplan suggested that each board member give a final statement followed by a vote. E.
Smith asked if this is proper procedure and King said that it is. Pettigrew restated the
motion: “Jack Burkman moved and Merle Koplan seconded that we adopt an Internet
access policy option that prohibits viewing of pornographic websites in the FVRL
libraries and that uses mandatory basic filtering for all ages as its implementation tool,
and that the library district also provide reasonable patron privacy while allowing staff
the ability to monitor for inappropriate access.”

E. Smith said she did not like this procedure and would have preferred a discussion
followed by a vote on each option.

Peterson asked if the filter shows what is being blocked? Ziegman explained that when
you do a search, you see all the search results as if there were no filter. You find out
what is blocked when you click on a link; at that point you see a message that says the
filter has blocked this site. If someone comes across something that appears to be over
blocked, they can ask to have it unblocked. Burkman confirmed that there is no hidden
information with the filter in place. King said he wants to make sure that if sites are
over blocked, we provide a way for patrons to appeal to a librarian to allow the site
through. Ziegman agreed and said this is currently being done with the filtered
computers.

Yee expressed concern that the board is voting on something before allowing staff to
work out the details. He said he is unclear how staff would enforce the policy. He
noted that two years ago, the board voted 6-1 for the current policy. He said he hasn’t
heard any complaints about the current policy from staff. He considers the library as
safe as any public place can be. Yee said wouldn’t leave his 7-year-old grandchild in
the movie theater, at the mall or at church alone. Yee said he doesn’t have a problem
with current policy.

Koplan said the board’s role is to set policy and Ziegman'’s role is to see that it is
implemented. Together, she said Ziegman and the board are responsible for the
implementation. She requested that the board institute a policy that does not put a
tremendous burden for monitoring on the staff. A filter system will block the
pornography before it gets into the library.

Peterson said she wasn’t completely convinced about the need to include viewing
restrictions. She said she agreed with requiring a filter, but asked for more clarification
about what is meant by viewing restrictions. Burkman said his understanding is that
there’s a clear policy that says Internet pornography is not allowed in the library. This



FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 16

Amended
at 3/13/06
meeting:

means that the policy is the viewing restrictions and the filter is the implementation
tool. The placement of the monitors is the third issue.

Koplan suggested that removing the issue of the monitors might make the decision less
complicated. Yee asked how staff would be able to enforce it and wondered if they
would be looking over patrons’ shoulders every few minutes?

Burkman said it is important to include a statement about finding a balance that allows
some patron privacy while still giving staff the ability to see that it’s being used
appropriately. Ziegman said that if the motion passed, he would bring the issue about
the placement of the monitors and patron privacy back to the board after he has time to
review the best way to accomplish both objectives.

E. Smith said she is against mandatory filtering for adults. She expressed support for
the current policy and said she sees no plausible reason to change it. She read a
statement from an email sent by Jerry King: “I can’t figure out why, just because I’'m on
the Library Board, I should be able to tell an adult person that he or she can’t look at
material in a public library.” She said this rings true for her. E. Smith thanked the
citizens that spoke in support of keeping the current policy.

R. Smith said she feels the opposite of E. Smith. She said she thinks we all know her
opinion and that she believes she was appointed by the commissioners because of it.
She said it is time to vote on this issue because there has been enough discussion and
comment on it by both the board and citizens.

King agreed that it is time to make a decision. King addressed an earlier comment
about why more libraries are instituting full filtering. He said he didn’t think it was a
result of any real problems in libraries, rather he saw it as an objection by people that
there is pornography on the Internet. He said the board has heard from many people on
both sides of this issue and that he wishes there were a way to find a compromise--but
there isn’t. He stated again that the pornography on the Internet is no different than the
pornography he saw 25 years ago. Of the dozen people he observed using the main
library’s unfiltered computers, only one was looking at porn. The rest were looking at
dense text. King questioned why people were willing to sit in line to get unfiltered
access? He said this is a complicated issue and a difficult decision, but he said he
would follow the direction of the board regardless.

Burkman said the bottom line is that we must represent our communities. He said he is
not swayed by the comment that we should wait for something to happen and then take
action. There’s a time when we decide we have enough information to take action.
Burkman said pornography is not necessary in the library and we can decide not to offer
it. He said the board will eventually have a similar conversation in a year or two about
how much our resources are tied up with gaming, chat rooms, and other resources
available over the Internet. He said the Internet is a tool for a variety of interests and
the board will always have questions about whether the library can support all of them
when resources are scarce.



FVRL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes, February 13, 2006 Page 17

VOTE ON MOTION: The motion passed with four Yeas (Jack Burkman, Merle Koplan,
Rose Smith and Karen Peterson) and three Noes (Jerry King, Elena Smith and Bill Yee).

12. NEXT REGULAR MEETING
The next regular meeting will be on Monday, March 13, 2006 at the Woodland Grange.

13. ADJOURNMENT
The meeting adjourned at 8:38 p.m.

These minutes were approved as amended
at the March 13, 2006 board meeting



